1985

/Karla Kishpaugh (Kornmayer) v. Richard Bruce Kishpaugh : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. Under the test established in Hutchinson v. Hutchinson, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982), may a finding that a natural parent lacks two of the three characteristics giving rise to the presumption in favor of awarding custody to a parent over a non-parent support the conclusion that the presumption has been rebutted.

B. Does the evidence support the trial court's findings that the defendant Richard B. Kishpaugh:

1. Lacks the sympathy for and understanding of the child that is characteristic of parents generally; and
2. Has failed to sacrifice his own interest and welfare for the child's interest and welfare.

C. Did the trial court err in failing to instruct Kishpaugh what he should do in the future to obtain custody of Brian.

D. If the parental presumption has been rebutted, is it in the child's best interest that the petitioners William and Kathryn Kornmayer be awarded custody.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case. This is an appeal by the defendant Richard B. Kishpaugh from an order awarding custody of the minor child, Brian, to his maternal grandparents, William and Kathryn Kornmayer.

B. Course of the Proceedings.

The plaintiff Karla Kishpaugh (Plaintiff) was awarded custody of Brian, born February 18, 1976, under the decree of divorce entered June 25, 1981. The defendant Richard Kishpaugh (Kishpaugh) petitioned the court on April 27, 1984 to modify the decree so that he might obtain custody of Brian. The petitioners William and Kathryn Kornmayer (Petitioners) also filed a petition for custody, after it was determined Plaintiff would be unable to care for Brian due to illness. The hearing on both petitions came on before the Honorable Dean E. Conder of the Third Judicial District Court on November 22, 1984.

C. Disposition in the District Court.

On December 7, 1984, the District Court entered an order awarding custody to Petitioners, after finding that the presumption in favor of awarding custody to a parent over a nonparent had been rebutted, and that it was in Brian's best interest that Petitioners be awarded custody .

D. Statement of Material Facts.

Brian was born February 18, 1976 and is the sole issue of the marriage of Kishpaugh and Plaintiff (F.F. 1). Although awarded custody by stipulation in the original decree of divorce in June, 1981, the Plaintiff has never assumed a custodial role (T 7,8). Since the decree of divorce, Brian has lived with his maternal great grandmother, Ona Landrum, and with the

Petitioners, alternatively (T 28,29; F.F. 2). Petitioners are the maternal grandparents of Brian (T 12). Petitioners live in a mobile home park in Chico, California (T 54, 56).

Kishpaugh has a good relationship with Brian which has been enhanced by Kishpaugh taking the child for visits during Thanksgiving and Easter recesses, together with several other weekend visits during the year and extended summer visitations, which include six weeks in 1984 and three and one-half weeks during the summer of 1983 (T 83, 93; F.F. 3). There is love between Brian and Kishpaugh which the lower court has characterized as "deep love" (T 133, 138; F.F. 11).

Shortly after the decree of divorce Kishpaugh quit his job in Salt Lake City and moved to Reno, Nevada, to be closer to Brian and to Kishpaugh's family so that his family could care for Brian during working hours when Brian was staying with Kishpaugh (T 82, 83, 98, 102, 115). In doing so, Kishpaugh quit his job of four years with the University of Utah Police (T 82). While Brian lived with Petitioners, Kishpaugh wrote him letters (T 94), visited him at least ten times (T 86), went with Brian to school (T 87, 90) and even learned sign language to help him better communicate with his son (T 87). Kishpaugh has arranged in Reno for school and church services designed for the instruction of the hearing impaired (T 89-91). Kishpaugh has also arranged with co-workers to change his work schedule to accommodate the four hundred mile drive to Chico, California, and back to visit Brian

(T 99). Kishpaugh has further sacrificed his own interests for Brian's welfare by terminating a close personal relationship with his girlfriend after she had expressed doubts about the desirability of gaining custody of Brian (T 98).

During the three and one-half years following the divorce, Kishpaugh paid nearly \$10,000.00 to the Plaintiff: \$6,430.00 of which was support for Brian (F.F. 15). Plaintiff never forwarded this money to Brian, but rather used it for her own needs (T 20, 107). After discovering that the payments were not being forwarded to Brian, Kishpaugh stopped making payments to Plaintiff (T 106, 107; F.F. 4). Kishpaugh attempted to continue payments by sending the amount, previously agreed upon for child support between Kishpaugh and Plaintiff (T 104), to Brian's maternal great-grandmother with whom Brian was living. She refused the payments because they were not the amount stated in the stipulated decree of divorce (T 71, 106, 107).

Due to health problems, Plaintiff will be unable to assume any custodial role (F.F. 16). At the time of the original decree of divorce Plaintiff had told Kishpaugh that Brian would be living with Petitioners for only a short time while Plaintiff finished her education (T 83). After relying upon Plaintiff's promises for some time and after discovering that Plaintiff could not assume custody, Kishpaugh sought custody, believing that Brian should be raised by his natural parent (T 83-85).

After a hearing on both Kishpaugh's and Petitioners' petitions for custody, the Honorable Dean E. Conder of the Third

Judicial District Court awarded custody of Brian to Petitioners and not to Kishpaugh, the natural father. The court found the presumption favoring the natural parent had been rebutted and that awarding custody to Petitioners was in the best interests of Brian.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Hutchinson v. Hutchinson, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982) held that a natural parent and a non-parent will be on equal footing in a custody dispute only after the presumption in favor of the natural parent has been rebutted. To rebut the parental presumption, the non-parent must show that the parent lacks all three of the attributes generally characteristic of parents. These attributes are: a strong mutual bond with the child; a willingness to sacrifice one's own interest and welfare for the child's; and the sympathy for and understanding of the child that are generally characteristic of parents. The trial court erred in concluding the parental presumption had been rebutted upon a finding that Richard Kishpaugh lacked only two of the necessary three attributes.

B. The trial court erred in finding that Richard Kishpaugh lacked two of the three necessary parental attributes. The record shows Richard Kishpaugh more than willing to sacrifice his own interests and welfare for his son's, and it is devoid of any evidence showing Kishpaugh to be lacking in the sympathy for and understanding of Brian that are generally characteristic of

parents. The trial court's conclusion that the parental presumption had been rebutted was, therefore, erroneous.

C. The trial court erred in failing to provide Kishpaugh with a standard of improvement whereby he might regain custody of his son. Even an individual whose parental rights the State wishes to terminate is given such a standard and a six-month probationary period before any permanent determination is made. The trial court's failure so to do made useless any future action by Kishpaugh to reacquire custody, since he has done all that the law previously required him to do, and he can do no better than he has done without instruction. His rights to custody and Brian's right to be raised by his parent have been rendered illusory by the trial court's error.

D. The trial court erred in finding that Brian's best interests were served by awarding custody to the Petitioners William and Kathryn Kornmayer. Hutchinson set forth the criteria found important by courts in determining the best interests of a child in custody disputes. The trial court's conclusion was not based upon any of the Hutchinson criteria. This was error.

ARGUMENT

A. THE PARENTAL PRESUMPTION MAY BE REBUTTED ONLY UPON A FINDING THAT A NATURAL PARENT LACKS ALL THREE OF THE CHARACTERISTICS GIVING RISE TO THE PARENTAL PRESUMPTION.

In Hutchinson v. Hutchinson, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982), this Court stated in a unanimous decision:

In a controversy over custody, the paramount consideration is the best interest of the child, but where one party to the controversy is a nonparent, there is a presumption in favor of the natural parent. [citation deleted]

Id., at 40. Hutchinson, involved a custody dispute between the appellant, the natural mother of a minor child, and the respondent, the man whom she married after the birth of the child, and whom she later divorced. The evidence showed she was a heavy drinker, would leave the children for days at a time, and otherwise neglected the children. The district court denied custody of the child to the natural parent on the grounds that it was in the best interest of the child to award custody to the nonparent. Id.

The Hutchinson court held the trial court erred in not first establishing whether the presumption in favor of the natural parent had been rebutted before making inquiry into the best interests of the child. Id. at 40-42. The Hutchinson court reasoned that

The parental presumption is not conclusive, State in re R _____ L _____, 17 Utah 2d 349, 411 P.2d 839 (1966), but it cannot be rebutted merely by demonstrating that the opposing party possesses superior qualifications, has established a deeper bond with the child, or is able to provide more desirable circumstances. If the presumption could be rebutted merely by evidence

that a nonparent would be a superior custodian, the parent's natural right to custody could be rendered illusory and with it the child's natural right to be reared, where possible, by his or her natural parent.

Consistent with its rationale, the parental presumption can be rebutted only by evidence establishing that a particular parent at a particular time generally lacks all three of the characteristics that give rise to the presumption: that no strong mutual bond exists, that the parent has not demonstrated a willingness to sacrifice his or her own interest and welfare for the child's, and that the parent lacks the sympathy for and understanding of the child that is characteristic of parents generally. The presumption does not apply to a parent who would be subject to the termination of all parental rights due to unfitness, abandonment, or substantial neglect, since such a parent is a fortiori not entitled to custody. [emphasis added]

Id. at 41.

In the instant case the District Court found the parental presumption had been successfully rebutted based on a finding that Kishpaugh (1) had failed to sacrifice his own interest and welfare for Brian (F.F. ¶ 17); and (2) lacked the sympathy for and understanding of Brian that are characteristic of parents generally (F.F. ¶ 18). The District Court did not find that no strong mutual bond exists. Indeed, it found Kishpaugh and Brian have a good relationship (F.F. ¶ ¶ 3, 14) and that there is a deep love between Kishpaugh and Brian (F.F. ¶ 11; T 133, 138-139).

Hutchinson did not state that the presumption can be rebutted by showing that two of the three characteristics are missing in a particular parent at a particular time. It stated:

. . . the parental presumption can be rebutted only by

evidence establishing that a particular parent at a particular time generally lacks all three characteristics that give rise to the presumption

Id. at 41.

The Hutchinson court established a clear test for establishing whether the parental presumption has been rebutted, and its language is clear. "All three characteristics" must be lacking. When interpreting a statute or case containing the word "all", the rule is, generally, that the plain meaning of the word will apply. Thus, "the word 'all' usually does not admit of an exception, addition or exclusion." 73 AmJur 2d, Statutes §244 at 421. "All" in such a context means "each" or "every".

The District Court, therefore, erred in awarding custody to the maternal grandparents, the Petitioners. Much as in Hutchinson,

. . . the district court addressed the question of the best interests of the child without first determining [that] the presumption in favor of the natural parent had been rebutted.

Id., at 42. This was error.

In the companion case to Hutchinson, Cooper v. DeLand, 652 P.2d 907 (1982), this Court reiterated the three-pronged Hutchinson test for overcoming the presumption in favor of a natural parent over a non-parent. Citing Hutchinson, the Court stated:

A party seeking to deprive a natural parent of

custody of a minor child can rebut the parental presumption only by evidence establishing that: "no strong mutual bond exists, that the parent has not demonstrated a willingness to sacrifice his or her own interest and welfare for the child's, and that the parent lacks the sympathy for and understanding of the child that is characteristic generally." Only after the parental presumption has been rebutted, will the parties compete on equal footing, and custody shall then be granted to the party who will most adequately protect and promote the best interests of the child.

Cooper, supra, at 908-909.

In Cooper, the noncustodial parent petitioned the court to obtain custody of an eight-year old child from the stepfather after the death of the custodial parent. The Honorable Dean E. Conder of the Third District held for the stepfather, finding that the natural father had not shown "by clear and convincing evidence" that it was in the child's best interests to wrest custody from the stepfather, with whom the child had lived for five years prior to the petition. Id., at 908.

On appeal, the Supreme Court held the district court had erred in not first determining whether the parental presumption had been rebutted before enquiring whether the child's best interests were served by awarding custody to either party. Id., at 908-909.

The trial court has here once again awarded custody to the nonparent without first establishing the parental presumption had been rebutted. Brian lived with Mrs. Landrum and Petitioners for 3 1/2 years. In Cooper the child had lived with his stepfather for five years. The Hutchinson and Cooper standard is not

"who has lived with the child longer," but rather, that the child should go with his natural parent unless the presumption has been rebutted by a finding that the natural parent lacks all three attributes generally typical of parents.

In Hutchinson, there was evidence to support a finding of rebuttal of the parental presumption, but the Supreme Court ordered the case remanded so the trial court could make that finding. In the instant case, there is no evidence tending to show Kishpaugh was unfit, or that he lacked the qualities typical of parents. The trial court plainly erred in failing to follow the Hutchinson standard.

B. THE RECORD IS DEVOID OF EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS THAT KISHPAUGH HAS FAILED TO SACRIFICE HIS OWN INTERESTS AND WELFARE FOR BRIAN'S AND THAT KISHPAUGH LACKS THE SYMPATHY FOR AND UNDERSTANDING OF BRIAN THAT ARE GENERALLY TYPICAL OF PARENTS.

1. Kishpaugh has sacrificed his own interests and welfare for Brian's interests and welfare.

The District Court made a Finding of Fact that Kishpaugh has failed to sacrifice his own interests and welfare for Brian's. (F.F. ¶ 17). This Finding is not based upon the evidence.

According to the testimony heard by the District Court, Kishpaugh visited Brian in Chico, California, driving the

approximately 360 miles round trip from Reno, Nevada, ten to twelve times from 1981 - 1984. (T 86). While in Chico, Kishpaugh often visited Brian's school. (T 76).

In addition to Kishpaugh's visits to Chico to see Brian, Kishpaugh would drive to Chico, pick Brian up, and take him to Reno every Easter, Thanksgiving, and for a few weeks every summer. (T 77). In 1983 and 1984 Brian was in Reno 3 1/2 and 3 weeks, respectively (T 88 - 89). Kishpaugh also writes Brian often: 5 - 6 times in 1983 and 10 times in 1984 (T 94).

During the visits in Reno, Kishpaugh takes Brian camping and fishing, they go bike riding together, and often go to the park for picnics or just play (T 89). Although he does not want to buy his son's love, Kishpaugh often gives Brian gifts, including gifts on every birthday and every Christmas (T 94 - 95), including two bicycles: one for use in Reno and one for Chico (T 96 - 97).

Kishpaugh moved to Reno from Salt Lake City in 1981, giving up a job he had held with the University of Utah police for four years (T 82) so he could be close to Brian in Chico and so he could be near his family and have their help in Brian's care during visitation (T 102).

Kishpaugh has learned sign language so he could better communicate with Brian (T 87), and has located a church and school in Reno which provide services for the hearing impaired. (T 89 - 91).

After Kishpaugh learned that Brian would likely remain in Chico, rather than in Salt Lake City with Plaintiff, he explored the possibility with Plaintiff that he take custody of Brian. Plaintiff threatened that if Kishpaugh took any action in that regard, she would take Brian herself, put him in daycare or have babysitters take him, and warned Brian would not receive the care he needed. (T 83-84)

Prior to January, 1984, Kishpaugh paid Plaintiff \$6,430.00 in child support (F.F. ¶ 15), none of which was forwarded to Petitioners or Ona Landrum for Brian's care (F.F. ¶ 4).

Finally, Kishpaugh recently ended a deep personal relationship with his girlfriend because she was not in favor of his obtaining custody of Brian, demonstrating that his love for Brian was greater than his love for his girlfriend. (T 98)

A review of the foregoing testimony elucidates Kishpaugh's willingness to sacrifice for Brian. His frequent, long trips to Chico, his willingness to end a relationship with his girlfriend rather than jeopardize his relationship with his son, his learning to communicate through sign language and arrange for Brian's scholastic and religious instruction, his payment of support, and his giving up a job he had held for four years all show a very real willingness to sacrifice his own interests and welfare for Brian's. The District Court's finding to the contrary is plain error.

2. Kishpaugh possesses the sympathy for and understanding of Brian that are characteristic of parents generally.

The record is devoid of evidence supporting the District Court's finding that Kishpaugh lacks the sympathy for and understanding of Brian that are generally characteristic of parents (F.F. ¶ 18).

It is uncontroverted that Brian and Kishpaugh enjoy one another's company (T 77-78), that Kishpaugh has made provision for Brian's care and instruction in Reno (T 87, 89-91), and that Kishpaugh is willing to terminate a relationship with his girlfriend because of her reluctance to support his love for Brian (T 98). These are not the attributes or acts of a man lacking a parent's sympathy and understanding. The District Court plainly erred in finding Kishpaugh was so lacking: his sympathy and understanding are as strong as any parent's.

C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROVIDE KISHPAUGH WITH A STANDARD OF IMPROVEMENT BY WHICH HE MIGHT LATER OBTAIN CUSTODY OF BRIAN.

The trial court did not give Kishpaugh any instructions for improving himself so that he might later overcome whatever deficiencies he might have and reacquire custody of Brian. This was error. The only direction the court gave was to "double your efforts and your love for this little boy." (T 140).

Even a person whose parenthood the State wishes to terminate is given some direction. In an involuntary termination

proceeding under § 78-3A-48, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended) and its predecessor, § 55-1-109, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended), the parent is given specific improvement criteria and a six-month probationary period. Thus, if the parent makes the necessary changes in his or her life, the child will be returned and the involuntary termination proceeding dropped.

In the instant case, Kishpaugh has worked diligently to provide an economically and emotionally stable environment for himself and Brian. He has maintained a good relationship with his son despite the distance between Chico and Reno. He has even made provision for Brian's special needs by locating schooling and church services for the hearing impaired in Reno. In short, Kishpaugh has demonstrated his willingness to do everything necessary to provide for Brian's physical, spiritual, and emotional needs.

It is fundamentally unfair to deny Kishpaugh custody and then to give him no standard for improvement. It appears the trial court made its decision based largely on the fact that Brian had lived with Ona Landrum and the Petitioners for 3 1/2 years. (T 135). This circumstance was not under Kishpaugh's control: Plaintiff had legal custody, but chose to have Brian raised elsewhere.

It is plain error to base a determination of one's worthiness as a parent on a circumstance like the length of time the child lived with someone else. Worse still, this cir-

cumstance remains outside Kishpaugh's control. It would seem the longer Brian lives with Petitioners, the less likely it is that Kishpaugh will ever reacquire custody.

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