1985

Karla Kishpaugh (Kornmayer) v. Richard Bruce Kishpaugh : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. There is sufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding that the Defendant had failed to sacrifice his own interests and welfare for the interests and welfare of the child, in that the Defendant has failed to support Brian, he has rarely visited him or written letters to him. These failings also support the conclusion that the Defendant and Brian share only "love" and do not share as strong a mutual bond as that between Brian and the Petitioners. It would be difficult for a child to have a strong mutual bond with a parent that he saw only three times a year. The weakness of the bond is most strongly indicated by the finding that Brian does not want to live with his father (F.F.9).

That the Defendant lacks the sympathy and understanding of the child that is characteristic of parents generally, once again one needs to look at the small amount of personal time the Defendant has invested with Brian.

This, along with his actions in refusing to return Brian from visitation, and the Defendant's inability to understand the psychological harm it would cause the child to be uprooted from the environment that he considered to be his home, indicates that the Defendant does not have the sympathy and understanding of Brian that the Supreme Court assumed natural parents to possess when it set forth the parental presumption as set forth in Hutchison v. Hutchison, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982).

B. The findings of fact in this case are in substantial compliance with the test set forth in Hutchison. The trial court found, verbatim, two of the three prongs of the test. The trial court did not find that there is no mutual bond of love and affection between the Defendant and Brian, but the trial court did find that there is a deep bond of love between Brian and the Petitioners, deeper than that between him and his father, and that the Defendant and Brian share only "love" between them. These three findings (F.F. 10, 11, 12) are tantamount to a finding that there is no strong mutual bond between the Defendant and Brian.

C. It is in the best interests of Brian that custody be granted to the Petitioners. There is ample evidence that supports this conclusion, ranging from the Petitioners uncomplaining monetary support of Brian, to their great personal investment of time and energy to his care, their obvious love for him, and most important, his love for them and his desire to live with them.

D. The trial court did not err in failing to provide the Defendant with a standard of improvement by which he might later obtain custody of Brian. All of the statutes cited by the Defendant's counsel relate to termination of all parental rights. In this case, the Defendant has lost no right he did not possess on the date of the decree of divorce. In fact, he now has greater rights, as the trial court granted him liberal rights of

visitation as part of the decision in this case. Nothing done by the Defendant to "redeem" himself in the eyes of the Court should allow him to obtain custody of Brian at a later date unless those acts substantially change Brian's circumstances.

E. The Defendant must show abuse of discretion by the trial court in order to have the Supreme Court overturn this decision. Great deference is given to the decision of the trier of fact and assessments of the applicability and relative weight of the various factors in a particular case lie within the discretion of the trial court. "Only where trial court action is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion should the appellate forum impose its own judgment "Jorgensen v. Jorgensen, Utah, 599 P.2d 510, 512 (1979). The Defendant has not carried the burden of showing that there was an abuse of discretion by the trial court, as there is ample evidence in the record to support the findings of the trial court judge.

ARGUMENT

A. THERE IS AMPLE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS THAT:

1. The Defendant has failed to sacrifice his own interest and welfare of the child's interest and welfare.
(F.F.17)

The trial court found the above fact after hearing evidence that the Defendant visited Brian three times per year since April of 1981 even though it is at most a four hour drive to the Petitioners' home in Chico, California from Defendant's home in Reno, Nevada (T 86). The Defendant also has written to Brian only five times in 1983 and ten times in 1984 (T 94). This is important as Brian is handicapped with cerebral palsy and hearing loss and cannot communicate by telephone. The trial court apparently did not concur with the Defendant's characterization of five letters per year as "often".

The Defendant admitted that he has failed to support Brian (T 106, 107), and claimed that he and the Plaintiff had an agreement that he could pay a smaller amount of child support. However, there is no written stipulation to that effect and the Defendant never instituted court action to modify the decree of divorce to reflect that fact (T 107). There was also no evidence to show that the Defendant's income had changed since the divorce. What more glaring indication of a parent not sacrificing his own interests for his child than one who allows other people to support his child, despite a court order

requiring him to do so.

The Defendant claims that he terminated a "close personal relationship" with his girlfriend because she was not in favor of his obtaining custody of Brian. This was intended to show that the Defendant had sacrificed for Brian. However, one must question the Defendant's judgment when he continued a long-term relationship with a person who did not like his child enough to have custody of him on a full-time basis. It also means that the Defendant is not near remarrying, and will be attempting to meet and date women at the same time he is caring for Brian as a single parent. Accordingly, the Defendant's purported reasons for ending the relationship do not overcome the other problems created by its termination.

2. The Defendant does not have the sympathy for and understanding of the child that is characteristic of parents generally.

Again, the Defendant's rare appearances for visitation with Brian show that he has invested little personal time with him. The Defendant admitted that he did not write Brian often enough (T 94). The result of this is that little or no contact has been maintained by the Defendant with Brian between visits. More importantly, it shows a lack of understanding of how slowly time passes for children. Evidence was presented that the Defendant is not patient with Brian (T 61, 62). This is more important in this case than it might usually be in light of Brian's handicaps.

The most telling incident of the Defendant's failure to understand Brian and his feelings occurred when the Defendant refused to return Brian to the Petitioners following visitation in April of 1984. At that time Brian had lived continuously with the Petitioners for three years and during that time the longest period of continuous visitation had been three weeks during the summer of 1983. There were no plans made for the change and, the Defendant did not discuss it with the Petitioners. He did not pick up Brian's possessions from the Petitioners or consider that Brian might want to finish the school year. He did not contact Brian's school principal regarding Brian's classes and type of instruction until approximately April 23, 1984, when he already had Brian with him (T 47, 105). The Defendant appeared to have no knowledge of Brian's need to be in on the plans, to know what was going to happen as any child would. Instead, he just didn't take him home following the Easter visit. The Defendant appears to have no concept that this might upset a child, that he might miss his "Pappa" and "Nandy" (the Petitioners), his toys or friends. Instead, the Defendant did what he wanted, which was to keep Brian with him, but he appeared to make no effort to take Brian's needs into consideration.

3. A deep bond of love exists between the minor child and his grandparents. (F.F.10)

Brian has lived with the Petitioners for three and one-half of his eight years of life. He has lived with them during

the time he learned to communicate with others (T 17, 31, 32, 66). The Petitioners are his daily caretakers and they see to all of Brian's needs. They have gone to great lengths to provide a proper home for Brian at great personal and emotional cost. They spend a great deal of time with Brian. This is ample evidence that there is a deep bond of love between Brian and the Petitioners.

4. There is love between the Defendant and his son. (F.F. 11).

The trial court found enough evidence to conclude that the Defendant and Brian share love for each other. However, the trial court could not conclude, in light of Brian's desire to live with the Petitioners, that this love rose to the level of a "deep mutual bond of love and affection."

5. There is a stronger bond between the minor child and the Petitioners than with the Defendant. (F.F. 12).

Brian's declaration that he wants to live with the Petitioners rather than with the Defendant is more than ample evidence that the bond between the Defendant is weaker than the bond between Brian and the Petitioners.

It is clear that there is ample evidence on the record for the trier of fact to conclude that the Defendant has failed sacrifice his own interests and welfare for those of Brian, that he lacks the sympathy and understanding of Brian that is characteristic of parents generally, and that a deep bond exists between the Petitioners and Brian, a bond which is deeper than

that between the Defendant and Brian.

B. THE FINDINGS OF FACT IN THIS CASE ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE THREE PRONGED TEST SET FORTH IN HUTCHISON V. HUTCHISON, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982)

The findings of fact in this case are, when taken as a whole, in compliance with the requirements of Hutchison. The trial court found, verbatim, two of the three prongs of the test, in Findings of Fact 17 and 18.

The trial court did not find that there is no mutual bond of love and affection between the Defendant and Brian, but when Findings of Fact 10, 11, and 12 are taken together it would appear that no strong mutual bond exists. The court's finding that Brian was bonded deeply to the Petitioners, more deeply than to the Defendant, and that only "love" existed between Brian and the Defendant and not a strong bond, is tantamount to a finding that the bond is not mutual, especially in light of Finding of Fact 9, which states that Brian wishes to live with the Petitioners.

C. IT IS IN BRIAN'S BEST INTERESTS THAT HE RESIDE WITH THE PETITIONERS AND THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED SUPPORTS THIS CONCLUSION.

Counsel for the Defendant lists the factors considered determinative of the child's best interests as promulgated in the Hutchison case on pages 10-13 of his brief, and the Petitioners respond as follows:

1. Preference of the child. The evidence was presented along with Brian's testimony which indicated that Brian

wants to live with the Petitioners (F.F. 9).

2. Siblings Brian is an only child, but he has many close friends at his school and in his neighborhood, one of whom knows American Sign Language. (T 55)

3. Bond. The trial court also concluded that there is a stronger bond between the Petitioners than with the Defendant. Brian wants to live with the Petitioners (F.F. 9)

4. Continuing previous custody. There is also a general interest in continuing previously existing custody arrangements where the child is happy and well adjusted, and in this case Brian has lived with the Petitioners for almost one-half of his life, and there is ample evidence that he is happy and well adjusted while in their care.(See Appendix F) The Petitioners also are able to provide personal rather than surrogate care, as the Defendant would do if he had custody (T 92). The Petitioners as a married couple also present a much more stable home, with a "father" and "mother" present at all times. The Defendant is a single parent, and has no immediate prospects of remarriage. Also, the Petitioners as grandparents are close blood relatives of Brian, and have demonstrated that they have and will continue to sacrifice their interests for Brian's interests, that they have the sympathy and understanding of him that a parent would have, and that there is a strong mutual bond between Brian and the Petitioners.

5. Natural parent's moral character and emotional stability. These were not at issue in this matter.

6. Duration and depth of Defendant's desire for custody The Defendant claims that he wanted custody for a long time prior to filing his petition, yet he provides is no good reason for waiting, other than his "intimidation" by the Plaintiff. The Defendant was not unemployed during this period, has not changed his marital status or type of job, and has been living near his parents so there has been no recent change which would account for his petition, except that he just decided that he wanted custody of Brian (T 102).

7. Ability to provide personal care. When Brian comes home from school one of the Petitioners is always there to meet him (T 40). They personally care for him from that time on, helping him with homework. The Defendant would take Brian to his parent's house in the morning before school, and would pick him up there in the afternoon, and during the time Brian was not in school, Defendant's mother would care for him. (T 92) This is not personal care, and requires a great deal of shuttling around for Brian.

8. Impairment through drugs, alcohol. None of the parties drinks heavily or uses drugs.

9. Natural parent's reasons for relinquishing custody The Plaintiff was awarded custody of Brian by agreement, but the Plaintiff's grounds for divorce in the findings of fact appurtenant thereto in paragraph 20 states that "the Defendant has treated the Plaintiff cruelly in that he has been physically and mentally abusive to Plaintiff. That he has struck Plaintiff

with a glass requiring substantial stitching and has been abusive to the minor child of the parties." The Petitioners admit that all of these incidents are too distant in time to have any direct bearing on this matter, but they may explain why the Defendant made no effort to obtain custody of Brian at the time of his divorce.

10. Religious compatibility. The Plaintiff herein is presently not a practicing member of the L.D.S. church and Petitioners herein are Episopalian. The Defendant has expressed his desire to raise Brian in the L.D.S. faith, but has made no effort to aid the Petitioners in sending him to that church, nor has he offered to pay the \$40.00 per hour required for a deaf interpreter for Brian should he attend church in Chico, California where the Petitioners reside (T56).

11. Kinship The Petitioners are Brian's maternal grand parents, and the Defendant is his natural father.

12. Financial condition The financial condition of the parties was not at issue in this matter.

As the Court can see, these factors have a different impact when viewed from the perspective of the Petitioners, and the Petitioners' version of the impact of these factors further supports the trial court's conclusion that it is in Brian's best interests to remain with the Petitioners.

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO PROVIDE THE DEFENDANT WITH A STANDARD OF IMPROVEMENT BY WHICH HE MIGHT LATER OBTAIN CUSTODY OF BRIAN.

Defendant's counsel claims that the trial court's decision in this case is the same as the termination of his parental rights. But the Defendant has lost no right he did not possess on the date of the decree of divorce. In fact, he now has greater rights, as the trial court granted him liberal rights of visitation as part of the decision in this case.

It would be a great hardship for Brian if custody was to be changed at a later date because the Defendant had somehow "redeemed" himself, for example, by visiting and writing more often, and by paying his child support. None of those things change the fact that the longer Brian stays with the Petitioners, the more bonded he will become, and the more difficult it would be for him to leave his home and friends. The trial court is correct in letting this matter stand as a straightforward child custody matter which can be modified only upon a showing of a substantial change in the circumstances of the parties. Any other standard could cause great hardship to Brian, who has a right to a stable, long term home where he is happy and well adjusted for as long as living in that home is in his best interests.

E. THE DEFENDANT MUST SHOW AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT IN ORDER TO HAVE THE SUPREME COURT OVERTURN THIS DECISION.

Great deference is given by the appellate forum to the decisions made by the trier of fact. Assessments of the applicability and relative weight of the various factors in a particular case lie within the discretion of the trial court.

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